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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Pro se petitioner Daniel Giles asks this Court to review the 

decision of the court of appeals referred to in section B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of the published court of appeals decision 

in State v. Giles,~ Wn. App. ~' 385 P.3d 204 (2016), and the court's 

order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration, entered January 10, 

2017. A copy of the slip opinion and order denying the motion for 

reconsideration are attached as Appendices A and B. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the court violated Giles' due process right to 

present a defense by prohibiting other suspect evidence? 

2. Whether the court erred in denying Giles' motion for a new 

trial based on newly discovered evidence concerning one of the other 

suspects? 

3. Whether the prosecutor's violation of the court's pretrial 

ruling constituted prosecutorial misconduct depriving Giles of his right to 

a fair trial? 

4. Whether the appellate court abused its discretion in 

granting the state's request for $21,744.97 in costs where Giles has been 

determined indigent for purposes of this appeal and the appellate court has 
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been exerctsmg its discretion to deny costs under analogous 

circumstances? 

5. Whether prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument 

deprived Giles of his right to a fair trial? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. Trial Testimony 

Following a jury trial in October 2014, Giles was convicted of first 

degree murder for the deatb of Patti Berry, which occurred nearly twenty 

years earlier in 1995. CP 34-44. Berry was a topless dancer who was last 

seen leaving Honey's strip club around 1:45 a.m. on July 31, 1995, 

heading nortb on Highway 99 in search of an air pump to fill up her left 

front tire. RP 12-20,40,47, 1400. 

When Berry did not show up as expected at 9:00a.m. on July 31, 

her family contacted the Snohomish county sheriffs office. RP 81-87, 

100-101, 116. The next day, Berry's sister Lisa Berry,1 decided to try to 

retrace Berry's steps. RP 95, 117-18, 147. 

Lisa looked for air pumps north of Honey's. RP 119, 14 7. Around 

9:30 p.m., Lisa found Berry's car down an alleyway off of 128th Street 

tucked between two U-hauls, adjacent to a car wash with an air pump. RP 

95, 120-23, 187, 231. There was a significant amount of blood in Berry's 

1 To avoid confusion, this brief refers to Lisa Berry as Lisa. No disrespect is intended. 
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car. RP 124. Lisa stayed with the car until the police towed it to the 

county garage for processing. RP 125, 237, 560. 

On August 2, the police searched the area west of the U-hauls, and 

recovered a number of items, including a handbag, as well as a pair of 

Jeans. RP 241,243, 245,267, 338, 342. 

At 5:00 p.m. on August 8, 1995, Everett police responded to a 

report of a dead body at the Country Club Apartments just south of Everett 

Mall. RP 251-54, 425-26. Some kids came across it while playing in the 

woods. RP 481. Fingerprints confirmed it was Berry. RP 681. She had 

been stabbed 17-18 times. RP 655-56,668. 

Police had a number of suspects early on - none of which were 

Giles- but made no arrests. RP 1195-97, 1206, 1223-24, 1580-81. In 

2004, the case was assigned to the "cold case" unit and items taken into 

evidence in 1995 were re-submitted for DNA testing. RP 1573-75, 1580. 

Among these items was the steering wheel. RP 1062, 1580. Reportedly, a 

partial male profile consisting of 7 loci was obtained and identified as 

"individual A" and input into the state's CODIS database. RP 1066-68. 

In 2008, police received a "CODIS hit" when the partial profile of 

"individual A" was found to match that of Giles at those 7 loci. RP 1096. 

In June 2010, the sheriffs department sent several items of 

evidence to a private lab for DNA testing, among them the handbag and 
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jeans. RP 756, 768, 776. Scientist Aimee Rogers obtained partial mixed 

profiles from the opening of the handbag, its handles and the outside­

bottom leg of the jeans. RP 773, 779, 782. The profile of the major 

contributor on all three was consistent with Berry's. RP 773, 779, 782. 

Regarding the DNA on the handbag opening, Giles could not be 

excluded as a potential minor contributor. RP 774-75. Regarding the 

DNA on the handbag handles, the potential minor contributor was 

consistent with that of a male, but Rogers could not draw any further 

conclusions. RP 800. Regarding the DNA on the outside-bottom leg of 

the jeans, the "minor alleles present in the mixture" were consistent with 

Giles' profile. RP 783. 

Rogers sent the items for Y -STR testing. RP 816, 792-93. 

Scientist Barbara Leal obtained a partial Y -STR profile from the handbag 

opening and Giles could not be excluded as a contributor. RP 822. Leal 

obtained a partial Y -STR profile from the handbag handles but there was 

not much DNA there; she testified Giles' profile was consistent with was 

obtained. RP 883-34. Leal obtained a mixed Y-STR profile of at least 

two male individuals from the bottom of the jeans. RP 827. Giles could 

not be excluded. RP 827. 

In 2012, police submitted for Y-STR testing fingernail clippings 

taken during Berry's autopsy. RP 748, 1606-1608. Previous DNA testing 

-4-



revealed the presence of blood consistent with that of Berry. RP I 055, 

1061. The testing also indicated the presence of DNA from two potential 

male contributors. RP 1319. 

Y -STR testing of the right fingernail clippings revealed DNA of 

mixed origin consistent with coming from two males. RP 1607-1609. 

Giles could be neither included nor excluded. RP 1609. Y-STR testing of 

the left fingernail clippings yielded the same results - except that Giles 

was excluded as a potential contributor. RP 1609. 

In November 2013, the police conducted additional Y-STR testing 

of various DNA extracts that had been taken of various bloodstains in 

Berry's car. RP 1662-1670. Among them was a DNA extract of blood 

taken from the underside of the driver's headrest. RP 1670. A partial 

profile of 11 of 16 loci was developed and reported to match the Y -STR 

profile of Giles. RP 1671, 1682. According to the Y-STR database, the 

chances of a random match are 1 in 1,400 males in the United States. RP 

1682-83. But Giles was excluded as the major male contributor of a 

bloody handprint on the back of the passenger seat. RP 1674-75, 1870-72. 
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2. Issues on Appeal 

(i) Whether the State's Expert Improperly Commented 
on Giles' Guilt 

The state's case relied heavily on the DNA evidence found on the 

steering wheel, the opening of the handbag, the bottom of the jeans and 

the underside of the driver's headrest. However, none of the experts who 

conducted the forensic testing - Aimee Rogers (handbag and pants), 

Barbara Leal (Y-STR testing of handbag and pants), William Stubbs 

(steering wheel), and Kristina Hoffman (DNA extract of driver's headrest) 

-could say that the DNA was in fact Giles.' Rather, each expert merely 

could state that the DNA was consistent with his. RP 803, 822, RP 1100, 

RP 1490. 

The state intended to call crime scene reconstructionist Christopher 

Kern to offer his opinion about the blood evidence in Berry's car. RP 

1481. Defense counsel moved to preclude Kern from giving an opinion 

that Giles was likely in the car, as even the DNA experts could not offer 

such an opinion. RP 1489-90. The court agreed Kern could not say it was 

"likely" Giles was in the car, but could say the evidence was "consistent 

with." RP 1490. 

Nonetheless, the prosecutor elicited exactly what the court 

prohibited. Kern testified that as part of his investigation, he reviewed the 
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DNA reports. RP 1854. Based on these reports, the prosecutor asked: "is 

it likely that the defendant, Danny Giles, was inside the car, touching the 

steering wheel?" RP 1854. Defense counsel objected on foundation 

grounds, but the court overruled the objection. RP 1854. Kern responded, 

"At some point prior to the vehicle being recovered, yes." RP 1854. The 

prosecutor next asked about the reports detailing the DNA obtained from 

the handbag and jeans: "do you have an opinion whether it was likely that 

Mr. Giles touched those items, prior to their recovery?" RP 1854. 

Defense counsel objected again but was overruled. RP 1855. Kern 

answered, "Yes, prior to them being discovered." RP 1855. 

At the break, defense counsel reminded the court of its ruling 

excluding this testimony. RP 1856-57. After taking a recess and 

reviewing its notes, the court indicated: "I do not find that the violation 

was intentional by the State. It is a violation, though, of the motions in 

limine." RP 1858. The court thereafter instructed the jury to disregard 

Kern's opinion "it is likely that Mr. Giles was inside the car, touching the 

steering wheel" and his opinion that "it was likely Mr. Giles touched the 

belongings of Patti Berry, prior to their recovery." RP 1862. 

On appeal, Giles' argued Kern's testimony violated the court's 

ruling and amounted to an improper opinion on guilt. Brief of Appellant 

(BOA) at 30-37. Considering the centrality of the DNA evidence to the 
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state's case, Giles argued the court's curative instruction was ineffective to 

"unring the bell." BOA at 37; Reply Brief (RB) at 4-16. 

The appellate court ruled that because Giles received the relief that 

his attorney requested, his claim was without merit. Appendix A at 20, 

24. 

(ii) Whether the Court Violated Giles' Due Process 
Right to Present a Defense by Prohibiting Other 
Suspect Evidence 

Identity was the main issue at trial. Significantly, Giles was 

excluded as the major contributor of the male DNA obtained from 

underneath Berry's fingernails at the time of her death. He was also 

excluded as the major contributor of a bloody handprint found in the car. 

And Berry had a history of prostitution. RP 1200. 

Yet, the court prevented Giles from offering evidence the police 

had zeroed in on three key suspects before Giles, specifically: deputy 

Michael Beatie; Berry's boss Frank Colacurcio Jr.; and Honey's patron 

James Leslie. 

a. Michael Beatie 

Beatie's beat (at the time of Berry's disappearance) included 

Honey's and the surrounding area. CP 371-75. He also lived in the area 

and was not on duty the night of Berry's disappearance. CP 665; 5RP 

129; 7RP 25. Beatie was under investigation for inappropriate interactions 
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with Honey's dancers. CP 375, 665. The state acknowledged, "He used 

his badge to have sex with dancers, as well as rape victims." 5RP 129; see 

also 7RP 25-27. 

Beatie was the first responder to the car site. CP 257. Lisa said 

Beatie put his foot on the bumper of Berry's car, bounced the car up and 

down, and said that Berry could not be in the trunk, as she was a bigger 

girl. 7RP 25. Lisa also said that when she returned to the car site the next 

day, Beatie was there again and had noticeable scratches on his legs. 5RP 

129, 131. Beatie claimed he fell down an embankment into blackberry 

bushes while looking for Berry's body. 5RP 129, 131; 7RP 18. 

However, a police report indicated that a sergeant was the one who 

looked in the blackberry bushes while Beatie looked in a grassy field north 

of the car. 7RP 18. Moreover, pictures showed there was no 

embankment. 7RP 18, 25. That day, Beatie also told Lisa kids would find 

Berry's body in the woods, which is exactly what happened. 7RP 26. 

While Beatie was under investigation, another deputy had a 

conversation with Beatie during which he appeared proud he was on 

administrative leave, suspected of Berry's murder. CP 974-983. 

Similarly, a sergeant also had a conversation with Beatie, during which -

in response to the sergeant's inquiry as to whether Beatie killed Berry -

Beatie merely hung his head and offered no denial. I d.; 7RP 28. 
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Beatie would not speak to defense counsel unless he received 

immunity from the prosecution, which the prosecution declined to give. 

CP 395; 6RP 28-29. A hearing was held on September 18, 2014- just 

days before trial2 
- to determine whether Beatie had a Fifth Amendment 

privilege. Ultimately, the court required him to answer most questions. 

CP 249-311. 

The court found an insufficient nexus to allow the defense to 

present evidence of Beatie as an "other suspect." 7RP 21, 38; see also 

5RP 130. The court reasoned there was no concrete evidence Berry was 

blackmailing Beatie/ and no evidence "that showed Beatie had no 

obligation to search for the body" when Lisa encountered him with 

scratches on his legs. 7RP 38. At an earlier hearing, the court ruled there 

would be a sufficient nexus if there was evidence Beatie "had no 

responsibility in his official job duties, for looking for the body." 5RP 

130. Thereafter, the state found a report in which Beatie described getting 

scratches while looking for Berry's body at the car site. 7RP 18-19. 

Post -trial, defense counsel moved for a new trial based on evidence 

that had come to light immediately preceding and during trial. CP 50-56. 

2 Voir dire began just days later on September 23. 9RP 8. 

3 The defense had suggested that as a potential motive for Beatie to be involved in 
Berry's murder (other than just having a lustful disposition towards Honey's dancers), 
Berry might have been blackmailing Beatie. 7RP 24. There was evidence suggesting 
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At the September 18 hearing, Beatie was asked whether he approached the 

body after it was discovered on the evening of August 8. CP 54; CP 292. 

Beatie responded he approached the body in order to identity it, and knew 

it was Berry because he saw a tattoo of a teddy bear that he knew she had 

on her hip area. CP 54; CP 292, 299-301. 

At trial, however, it came out that Beatie would not have been 

allowed to go anywhere near the body. The Everett police department 

received the call about the body and they had already set up a guarded 

perimeter by 6:00 p.m. when they put the call out over the radio. RP 428-

29. There was also testimony that after the perimeter was set up, nobody 

but detectives or other higher-ups were allowed near the body. RP 287-

88; RP 308, 355, 459. And according to the police log, Beatie signed in at 

7:15p.m., which would have been after the crime scene tape was in place. 

RP 428-29, 2036. 

Moreover, the evening the body was found, the police started to 

cut a path through the brush to the body so as not to contaminate the 

scene. RP 258, 394. It was not until the next day the police cut the path to 

within two to three feet of the body. It was not until that point that other 

officers could make out the small teddy bear tattoo. RP 394. Thus, it is 

Berry was blackmailing some of her customers at Honey's. CP 368, 663; 7RP 23; RP 
1981. 
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even more questionable Beatie would have been able to get close enough 

to confirm it was Berry. 

Defense counsel argued this newly discovered evidence entitled 

Giles to a new trial because had it been discovered earlier, it should have 

resulted in the court allowing evidence of Beatie as a viable other suspect. 

CP 55. The court denied the motion on grounds it was not newly 

discovered. 1 ORP 9-10. 

The appellate court held the evidence sought to be introduced prior 

to trial lacked relevance. Appendix at 17. The court reasoned that 

because Beatie was a sheriff's deputy, his interest in the criminal 

investigation failed to logically connect him to the crime in a nefarious 

way. Appendix at 17. The remaining evidence "required the pyramiding 

of speculation upon inferences in order to connect him to Berry's 

murder[.)" Appendix at 17. 

Regarding the motion for a new trial, the appellate court also 

concluded that because Beatie was "responsible for investigating Berry's 

murder, the motion's supporting circumstantial evidence fails to connect 

Beatie to the murder." Appendix at 18.4 

4 As the court noted, appellate counsel conflated the evidence tendered in support of the 
motion for a new trial with the evidence that was before the court prior to trial and 
therefore did not raise a separate issue regarding the denial of the motion for a new trial. 
Nonetheless, the appellate court addressed the issue. Appendix at 18, note 7. 
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b. Frank Colacurcio, Jr. 

As the appellate court summarized, Giles sought to admit the 

following evidence: 

(1) Colacurcio was a co-owner of the nightclub at 
which Berry worked, (2) Berry once said that Colacurcio 
was a "mafia type," (3) Berry owed Colacurcio several 
thousand dollars for a loan that financed her breast 
augmentation surgery and for unpaid rental fees (amounts 
charged to women for the right to dance at his clubs), (4) 
Berry was a sex worker who had been blackmailing her 
customers, including one of Colacurcio's "associates," (5) 
Berry's mother claimed that Berry had once slapped 
Colacurcio after he touched her rear end, (6) Colacurcio 
had sent Berry to work at a strip club in Texas earlier that 
month and, while in Texas, Berry stated that she was afraid 
of going back to Washington, 151 (7) a black car of the same 
color and model as a car owned by Colacurcio was seen 
driving away from the nightclub around the same time that 
Berry was last seen and in the same direction as Berry had 
been seen driving,161 (8) the nightclub's surveillance tapes 
requested by the police were not turned over to the police 
in a timely fashion, (9) the nightclub's surveillance tape 
recorded on the night that Berry disappeared - unlike the 
videotapes for different nights - was blank. 

Appendix at 13. 

5 Berry told a fellow dancer in Texas she was afraid to return to Washington because she 
owed Colacurcio money for breast augmentation surgery and was blackmailing 
customers, including an associate ofColacurcio's. CP 368, 663, 840-983; 7RP 23, 119. 

6 Roy Nichols was at Honey's the night of Berry's disappearance and saw Berry depart 
that night. 7RP 120. He saw Co1acurcio at Honey's that night as well, two hours before 
Berry's disappearance. 7RP 120, 122, 128. Nichols was familiar with Colacurcio's car­
a black Corvette - and said he saw a black Corvette following Berry when she drove 
away from Honey's, north on Hwy 99 and onto 128'h Street, where her car was later 
found. CP 664; SRP 112, 116, 118; 7RP 120. 
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The trial court found the defense had not established a sufficient 

nexus. In the court's opinion, Berry's financial debt to Colacurcio did not 

provide him with a motive, because he probably wanted his money back. 

Moreover, there was no evidence Berry was blackmailing Colacurcio, 

himself. 7RP 129-30. 

According to the appellate court, the trial court's ruling was 

"tenable." Appendix at 14. The court reasoned that, "while the evidence 

tied Colacurcio to Berry, it did not tie him to her killing. Appendix at 14. 

c. James Leslie 

Berry danced for Leslie several times the night of her 

disappearance. CP 667; 5RP 134. A witness saw someone who looked 

like Leslie carrying a duffie bag and dropping off clothing near the car site 

before it was recovered. CP 395-99. Leslie provided several conflicting 

stories to police and burned his diary instead of turning it over as he had 

promised. CP 667; 5RP 135. 

Berry appeared to be in a hurry to meet someone when she left 

Honey's that night. CP 355, 663; 7RP 24. It was not Berry's custom to 

leave work early unless she was going to meet a client for prostitution. CP 

355, 370, 664; 7RP 24. Otherwise, Berry would stay and try and make 

more money. CP 664. 
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The court ruled there was an insufficient nexus. SRP 136, 143; 

7RP 130. The appellate court agreed that at most, the evidence showed 

Leslie was a nightclub patron. 

E. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND 
ARGUMENT 

1. WHETHER GILES WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO 
PRESENT A DEFENSE BY THE COURT'S 
EXCLUSION OF OTHER SUSPECT EVIDENCE 
INVOLVES AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC 
INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE REVIEWED BY THIS 
COURT. 

The offer of proof as to the other suspects Giles sought to present 

as Berry's true killers constitutes a high water mark as far as establishing a 

reasonable doubt about the accused's guilt. Each of the three had motive, 

opportunity, ability, and a character linking each to Berry's death. Yet, 

the court of appeals in a published decision found the court's exclusion of 

this evidence "tenable." 

But if a defendant does not have the right to bring forth such 

evidence in his defense under the facts and circumstances presented here, 

when will he or she ever have the right? The court of appeals decision 

sets the bar so high, it will always be "tenable" for the court to exclude 

other suspect evidence. This case therefore presents an issue of substantial 

public interest that should be reviewed by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 
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In State v. Franklin, this Court held the test for admissibility of 

other suspects evidence is whether the evidence offered tends to create a 

reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt. 180 Wn.2d 371, 381, 325 

P.3d 159 (2013). The evidence Giles offered more than satisfied this test. 

The appellate court's decision therefore conflicts with Franklin, and this 

Court should accept review to clarify the law in this area. RAP 13.4(b)(1). 

Finally, review is also warranted because right to present a defense 

involves a significant question of law under the state and federal 

constitutions. RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, as well as article 1, § 2 of 

the Washington Constitution, guarantee the right to trial by jury and to 

defend against the state's allegations. These guarantees provide criminal 

defendants a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense, a 

fundamental element of due process. Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 

284, 294, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973); Washington v. Texas, 

388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019 (1967). Absent a 

compelling justification, excluding exculpatory evidence deprives a 

defendant of the fundamental right to put the prosecutor's case to the 

crucible of meaningful adversarial testing. Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 

683, 689-690, 106 S. Ct. 2142, 90 L. Ed. 2d 636 (1986). 
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The United States Supreme Court has held that a defendant is 

denied the right to present a defense if evidence is excluded under rules 

that are arbitrary or disproportionate to the purposes they are designed to 

serve. Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324-25, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 

164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006). Specifically, the Holmes Court stated that 

when the defense proffers evidence that someone other than the defendant 

committed the offense, a trial court may only exclude that evidence if it is 

repetitive or poses an undue risk of prejudice or confusion. Holmes, 54 7 

U.S. at 326-27 (citing Crane, 476 U.S. at 689-90). 

In State v. Downs, this Court held other suspect evidence is 

admissible if the defendant can show a train of facts or circumstances as 

tend clearly to point to someone else as the culprit. State v. Downs, 168 

Wash. 664, 667, 13 P.2d I (1932). More recently, however, this Court 

clarified that the train of facts or circumstances can be established by 

circumstantial evidence such as motive, ability, opportunity or character. 

The focus is on whether the evidence offered tends to create a reasonable 

doubt as to the defendant's guilt. State v. Franklin, 180 Wn.2d 371, 380-

81, 325 P.3d 159 (2013). 

This is true in the case of each of Giles' proffered other suspects. 

Beatie had a motive. He had an abnormal bent or lustful disposition 

towards Honey's dancers to the point he was being investigated for 
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offenses involving them. Just before Berry's disappearance, Beatie had 

tracked down a different honey's dancer and showed up at her house in the 

middle of the night. 7 Beatie also had the ability to commit the crime. His 

beat included Honey's, he lived in the area and he was off duty the night 

of Berry's disappearance. And he personally knew Berry, well enough to 

know she would not fit in the trunk of her car and that she had a teddy 

bear tattoo. Beatie also had the opportunity. As the state acknowledged at 

trial, he used his badge to harass dancers and rape victims. He also had a 

character consistent with the crime. Berry was unclothed from the waist 

down8 and the sheriff's office believed Beatie committed sexual crimes 

against other women. And significantly, Beatie merely hung his head 

when a fellow officer asked if he killed Berry. He also told Berry's sister 

her body would be found by kids in the woods, which is what happened. 

Calacurcio also had motive, ability and opportunity to commit the 

offense. Berry owed him thousands of dollars. She was blackmailing 

Honey's clients or threatening to do so, including an associate of 

Colacurcio's. There was bad blood between Berry and Colacurcio. There 

was evidence Colacurcio threatened Berry and evidence Berry slapped 

Colacurcio. Calacurcio also had the opportunity to commit the crime. He 

was seen at the club the night of Berry's disappearance. A black Corvette 

7 7RP 26. 
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- the same kind of car Colacurcio was known to drive - was seen 

following Berry the night she left. Colacurcio also had a character 

consistent with committing the crime. His reputation was for being a 

"mafia type." 

Finally, Leslie had the ability and opportunity to commit the 

offense. He was present the night of Berrys' disappearance. In fact, he 

spent a significant amount of time with her. There was evidence Berry 

was open to meeting clients outside of the club and evidence she left in a 

hurry that night, which she would not have done unless she planned to 

meet a client. She was seen with Leslie before leaving. And Leslie gave 

police inconsistent statements and burned his diary instead of turning it 

over to police as he promised. There was evidence someone who looked 

like Leslie dropped off clothing at a place and time near where Berry's car 

was recovered. 

Contrary to the court of appeals decision, Beatie had more than 

mere "interest" in Berry's case. Moreover, the evidence did in fact tie 

Colacurcio to Berry's killing in that he was seen at the club and a car 

exactly like his was seen following Berry up the highway and onto 128'h 

Street where Berry's car was later found. And finally, the evidence 

established more than Leslie's mere patronage at the club. A person who 

8 RP 2057. 
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looked like Leslie was seen carrying a duffel bag at the car site before 

Berry's car was discovered and he burned his diary instead of turning it 

over as he said he would. Because the court of appeals decision sets the 

bar too high, and because it conflicts with Franklin, this Court should 

accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(l), (3), (4). 

2. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE 
MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL PRESENTS AN ISSUE 
OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT 
SHOULD BE REVIEWED BY THIS COURT. 

The court initially ruled that a sufficient nexus would be 

established to present Beatie as an other suspect if the defense had 

evidence Beatie was under no official duty to look for the body. 7RP 38. 

While the defense was unable to establish this fact with respect to Beatie's 

search at the car site, the defense did in fact establish this fact with respect 

to the body recovery site. 

This Court reviews for an abuse of discretion a trial court's denial 

of a motion for a new trial. State v. Pete. !52 Wn.2d 546, 552, 98 P.3d 803 

(2004). A trial court abuses its discretion by reaching a conclusion no 

reasonable judge would reach. Id. This Court will reverse a trial court's 

denial of a new trial motion only where the moving party clearly shows 

that the trial court abused its discretion. See id. 
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Beatie testified at the September 18 hearing - 5 days prior to trial -

that he had in fact walked to the area where the body was located in order 

to identifY it and confirmed it was Berry by her teddy bear tattoo. CP 292. 

There was no request for him to do so. CP 292. In fact, he would not 

have been allowed to do so, according to all the other officers who 

testified about the body recovery site. Moreover, a pathway had not yet 

been cut to the body that would have allowed Beatie a close enough view 

to glimpse the small teddy bear tattoo. 

A new trial should be granted when the evidence: will probably 

change the result of the trial; was discovered since the trial; could not have 

been discovered before trial by the exercise of due diligence; is material; 

and not merely cumulative or impeaching. In re Spencer, 152 Wash. App. 

698, 707, 218 P.3d 924, 929-30 (2009). 

Contrary to the trial court, this qualified as newly discovered 

evidence. Beatie would not agree to speak to the defense. It was not until 

just days before trial that the defense was even allowed to ask him 

questions. At that point, "all the interviews with the relevant police 

officers had been conducted and the defense could not, at this late point, 

go back and reinterview these officers to confirm or deny this information 

from Beatie." CP 55. Thus, the court abused its discretion in denying the 

motion for a new trial. 
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This Court should accept review because this issue dovetails with 

Giles' right to present a defense. The court of appeals decision affirming 

the exclusion of his other suspect evidence sets the bar too high. In 

concluding that the lower court properly denied the motion for new trial, 

the appellate court again relied on the fact Beatie was a police officer and 

therefore naturally had an interest in the investigation. However, the 

defense established much more than a mere interest. The combined facts 

and circumstances more than tend to create a reasonable doubt as to Giles' 

guilt. This Court should accept review. RAP !3.4(b)(4). 

3. WHETHER PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT 
DEPRIVED GILES OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL 
CONSTITUTES A SIGNFICANT QUESTION OF LAW 
UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL 
CONSTITUTIONS.9 

Prosecutorial misconduct may deprive a defendant of the fair trial 

guaranteed him under the state and federal constitutions. Miller v. Pate, 

386 U.S. I, 87 S. Ct. 785, 17 L. Ed. 2d 690 (1967). The right to a fair trial 

is a fundamental liberty secured by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments 

to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the 

9 Although this issue was raised as a violation of Giles right to a jury trial below, this 
Court allows petitioners to raise constitutional issues for the first time when seeking 
review. State v. McCullum, 98 Wn.2d 484, 487-88, 656 P.2d 1064, 1067 (1983), 
reversed on other grounds, State v. Camara, 113 Wn.2d 631, 639, 781 P.2d 483, 487 
(1989). 
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Washington State Constitution. Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 

S.Ct. 1691,48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976). 

Prosecutoria1 misconduct is grounds for reversal if the prosecuting 

attorney's conduct was both improper and prejudicial. State v. Monday. 

171 Wn.2d 667, 675, 257 P.3d 551 (2011); see also United States v. 

Yarbrough, 852 F.2d 1522, 1539 (9th Cir.1988) (analysis of a claim of 

prosecutorial misconduct focuses on its asserted impropriety and 

substantial prejudicial effect). Prejudice is established where there is a 

substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. State 

v. Yates, 161 Wash.2d 714, 774, 168 P.3d 359 (2007). 

The purpose of orders in limine is to clear up questions of 

admissibility before trial to prevent the admission of highly prejudicial 

evidence. See State v. Evans, 96 Wn.2d 119, 123-24, 634 P.2d 845 

(1981 ); see also ER 1 03( c) (" In jury cases, proceedings shall be 

conducted, to the extent practicable, so as to prevent inadmissible 

evidence from being suggested to the jury by any means, such as making 

statements ... in the hearing of the jury."). 

When a trial court makes an in limine ruling excluding evidence, 

the attorneys must abide by the ruling. Washington courts often have 

found prejudicial misconduct where a prosecutor's actions violate an in 

limine ruling. See, Q,&, State v. Smith, 189 Wash. 422, 428-29, 65 P.2d 
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1075 (1937); State v. Stith, 71 Wn. App. 14, 22, 856 P.2d 415 (1993) 

(prosecutor's violation of motion in limine excluding evidence of 

defendant's prior drug-related offense was "flagrantly improper"). 

Here, in keeping with the DNA experts' reports, the court 

expressly precluded Kern from saying it was likely Giles was in the car, 

but could say the evidence was "consistent with." Despite this ruling, 

when the prosecutor questioned Kern - less than 400 pages later in the 

transcript from the court's ruling - the prosecutor specifically asked if it 

was HIS opinion Giles was in Berry's car. And despite defense counsel's 

proper objection, the prosecutor similarly asked if it was Kern's opinion 

Giles touched Berry's things. As the court properly recognized, these 

questions - and Kern's responses of "yes" to both questions - violated the 

court's in limine ruling. 

This amounted to prejudicial misconduct. When Kern said it was 

likely Giles was in the car and it was likely he touched Berry's things, the 

inescapable inference is that he must also be the one who killed her. It 

should have been for the jury to draw its own conclusion from the DNA 

evidence, not the state's expert to draw it for them. Kern's testimony not 

only violated the court's ruling, it violated Giles' right to have a critical 

fact to his guilt determined by the jury. 
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And although the court tried to ameliorate the prejudice by giving 

a curative instruction, it was not until after it had already overruled two 

timely and proper objections by defense counsel. Moreover, the court did 

not issue the curative instruction contemporaneously, but rather, after a 

break in the testimony. The circumstances are analogous to those in State 

v. Grenier, 257 Conn. 797, 778 A.2d 159 (2001). There, the Connecticut 

court held it was reasonable to conclude the testimony already made a 

substantial and probably indelible impression on the jury such that the 

court's eventual curative instruction could not mitigate the prejudice. If 

anything, the court court's curative instruction likely served to create 

confusion. The same is true here. This Court should accept review of this 

significant question of law under the state and federal constitution. RAP 

13.4(b)(3). 

4. REVIEW IS APPROPRIATE BECAUSE THE 
APPELLATE COURT'S ORDER DENYING 
APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION 
AND OBJECTION TO THE STATE'S COST BILL 
CONFLICTS WITH STATE V. SINCLAIR.10 

The appellate courts have a choice to impose or deny appellate costs. 

RCW 10.73.160(1) ("The court of appeals, supreme court, and superior 

courts may require an adult offender convicted of an offense to pay appellate 

costs." (emphasis added)); RAP 14.2 (permitting the Court of Appeals to 

10 State v. Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. 380, 367 P.3d 612 (2016). 
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direct that costs not be awarded in decision terminating review). RCW 

10.73.160(3) further states that such costs "shall be requested in accordance 

with the procedures contained in Title 14 of the rules of appellate procedure. 

" Under RAP 14.2, a commissioner or clerk awards costs to the 

substantially prevailing party "unless the appellate court directs otherwise in 

its decision terminating review." Thus, under RAP 14.2, the decision 

terminating review may deny costs. 

In State v. Sinclair, Division One exercised its discretion, and 

denied the State's cost bill. 192 Wn. App. at 394. Despite the fact that 

Sinclair challenged appellate costs for the first time in a motion for 

reconsideration, Division One considered Sinclair's challenge, noting "the 

issue of appellate costs is systemic in nature[.]" Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. at 

394. Sinclair's motion set forth several facts supporting his inability to 

pay appellate costs, including; the trial court's lack of determination that 

he was able to pay any amount of trial court LFOs, the trial court's waiver 

of all nonmandatory LFOs in the judgment and sentence, and the 

appointment of appellate counsel because of Sinclair's indigency. 

Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. at 392-93. Noting RAP 15.2(f) established a 

"presumption of continued indigency throughout review," the Court of 

Appeals concluded no facts or trial court order supported a determination 

that Sinclair's financial condition had improved or was likely to improve. 
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Sinclair, 192 Wn. App. at 393. The Court of Appeals therefore concluded 

an award to the State of appellate costs was inappropriate. Sinclair, 192 

Wn. App. at 394. 

Giles is 48 years old and is serving a 48-year prison term. CP 14-

24. He was provided court-appointed counsel at trial. See Appendix B to 

Motion for Reconsideration. At sentencing, the trial court waived all 

discretionary legal financial obligations (LFOs). CP 19. The court found 

Giles indigent for the purpose of this appeal, as well. See Appendix C to 

Motion for Reconsideration. 

Thus, when the state filed a cost bill in the amount of $21,744.97, 

Giles filed a motion for reconsideration asking the court to deny the state's 

request for costs in the decision terminating review, as provided for in 

Sinclair. 

In the state's answer (called for by the court under RAP 12.4(d)11
), 

the state argued that Giles did not timely raise the issue of appellate costs 

in his brief. Although Sinclair was not decided until after Giles' opening 

appellate brief was filed, the state argued that he should have moved to 

amend his brief once it was decided. See State's Answer at 3. The state 

also argued the court should find Giles has the ability to pay $21,744.97 

11 Under RAP 12.4(d), "[a] party should not file au auswer to a motion for 
reconsideration or a reply to an answer unless requested by the appellate court." 
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worth of appellate costs, because he has made payments towards his $600 

worth ofLFOs. State's Answer at 2, 12. 

Without asking for a reply or giving any reason, th.e court denied 

Giles' motion for reconsideration and objection to the state's cost bill. 

Appendix B. 

Review is appropriate because under Sinclair, bringing a motion 

for reconsideration is an appropriate and timely mechanism for objecting 

to costs. The court's refusal to exercise its discretion to deny costs on 

grounds Giles' objection was not timely conflicts with Sinclair. 

Moreover, the court's refusal to exercise its discretion to deny costs on 

grounds Giles has made some modest payment towards his $600 worth of 

LFOs conflicts with Sinclair's holding regarding the presumption of 

indigency under RAP 15.2(£). It also conflicts with what the court ts 

doing in other cases. See ~ State v. Cook, noted at _ Wn. App. _, 

2017 WL 176661 (denying appellate costs based on lengthy incarceration, 

trial court's waiver of discretionary fees and order of indigency); State v. 

Russell, noted at_ Wn. App. _, 2017 WL 176652 (denying costs based 

on order of indigency); State v. Martinez, noted at_ Wn. App. _, 2017 

WL 176655.12 

12 None of theses cases are published. Giles cites them only to show how the court has 
exercised its discretion with respect to other appellants with similar fmancial 
circumstances. GR 14.l(a). 
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5. WHETHER PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT 
DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT DEPRIVED GILES 
OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL CONSTITUTES A 
SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER THE 
STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS. 

Petitioner is claiming prosecutorial misconduct. RPC 3 .4( e) 

prohibits a lawyer from vouching for any witness' credibility or stating a 

personal opinion, "on the guilt or innocence of an accused." During 

closing argument (RP 2, 126 (12-17) ), prosecutor Langbehn states "The 

defendant saying that the green river killer is doing us a favor by getting 

the Aids riddled cunts off the street." Here the prosecutor is clearly 

vouching for the credibility of witness Tawny Dale. The jury had already 

heard this testimony (RP 1283 (3-12)). Prosecutor Langbehn is clearly 

misleading the jury to believe and give credibility to a witness, "vouching 

for a witness." The jury can only be the ones to give or take away 

credibility based on what they hear during testimony. The jury already 

knew that this witness had in the past plead guilty to making a false 

statement (RP 1277 (22-25)). A prosecutor should not use arguments 

calculated to inflame the passions or prejudices of the jury. Any 

allegations of misconduct are reviewed under an abuse of discretion 

standard. State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 174-75, 892 P.2d 29 (1995) 

(citing State v. Hughes, 106 Wn.2d 176, 195, 721 P.2d 902 (1986)). The 
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defendant bears tbe burden of showing that the comments were improper 

and prejudicial. State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 26, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). 

Defense counsel did not object, misconduct is waived unless "the 

conduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned" citing State v. Stenson, 132 

Wn.2d 668, 719, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), on appeal whether the comments 

caused prejudice. Warren, 165 Wn.2d at 26. Appellant must show 

improper conduct and resulting prejudice. State v. McKenzie, !57 Wn.2d 

44, 52, 134 P .3d 221 (2006). Prejudice exists only where there is a 

"substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury's verdict." State 

v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), "so flagrant and ill­

intentioned." State v. Gregory. 158 Wn.2d 759, 841, 147 P.3d 1201 

(2006). Petitioner urges this Court to consider the error as one of 

constitutional magnitude, which affected my right to a fair trial. State v. 

Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). The proper standard 

to be utilized is the test set forth in Belgarde, this rule of law was 

reiterated in State v. Klok, 99 Wn. App. 81, 84, 992 P.2d 1039, review 

denied, 141 Wn.2d 1005, 10 P.3d 404 (2000). 

Based on what was already heard by this witness, to the jury, it is 

clear and unmistakable that counsel is expressing a personal opinion. The 

statement made by the prosecutor knowing what kind of a reaction he 

would get by the comments he made was more than flagrant, knowing all 
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the pain and suffering felt by the victims' families, losing their loved ones 

to the serial killer, Gary Ridgeway. This misconduct was so pervasive and 

prejudicial it could not have been overcome with a timely objection and a 

curative instruction. A new trial is the only mandatory remedy. Citing In 

re Personal Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012), 

State v. Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423, 432, 437, 326 P.3d 125 (2014). 

Petitioner is claiming manifest error. United States v. Bentley, 561 F.3d 

803, 812 (8th Cir. 2009). As a state agent, the prosecuting attorney 

represents the people and presumptively acts with impartiality in the 

interest of justice. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 746, 202 P.3d 937 

(2009). Prosecutor's remarks violated petitioner's right to the 

presumption of innocence which is "the most fundamental aspect of our 

criminal justice system," and shifted the burden of proof. Sullivan v. 

Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 281-82, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182 

(1993). Arguments that shift the burden of proof to the defense constitute 

misconduct. State v. Pinson, 183 Wn. App. 411, 333 P.3d 528 (2014), 

United States v. Prantil, 764 F.2d 548, 555 n.4 (9th Cir. 1985). Federal 

courts have held that comments at the end of a prosecutor's rebuttal 

closing are more likely to cause prejudice. United States v. Sanchez, 659 

F.3d 1252, 1259 (9th Cir. 2011). 
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Another claim of prosecutorial misconduct "improper closing 

argument." RAP 2.5(a)(3). The prosecutor's "truth statements" are 

improper because they mischaracterize the role of the jury. The Court of 

Appeals held that the truth statements are improper because they suggest 

that the jury's role is to solve the case. The jury's job is not to determine 

the truth of what happened, a jury therefore does not "speak the truth" or 

"declare the truth." State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 429, 220 P.3d 

1273 (2009). A jury's job is to determine whether the state has proved the 

charged offense(s) beyond a reasonable doubt. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 

358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). "Due process 

protections of the Fourteenth Amendment." Bruno v. Rushen, 721 F.2d 

1193, 1195 (9th Cir. 1983); State v. Walker, 164 Wn. App. 724, 733, 265 

P.3d 191 (2011) (holding that the latter two are improper) (quoting State v. 

Curtiss, 161 Wn. App. 673, 701, 250 P.3d 496 (2011), State v. Stenson, 

132 Wn.2d 668, 727, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). Petitioner is claiming that 

prosecutor's comments during closing argument, where he talks to the jury 

about - and to bring you the truth because when you look at the truth (RP 

2, 119); also they weren't consistent with the facts, they weren't consistent 

with the truth (RP 2, 124 (12-15)); and slowly, the truth came into focus 

(RP 2, 125 (2-4), RP 2, 119 (5-15)) statements were improper and 
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prejudiced defendant a fair trial. State v. McKenzie, 151 Wn.2d 44, 52, 

134 P.3d 221 (2006). 
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F. CONCLUSION 

For all the reasons stated above, this Court should accept review. 

RAP 13.4(b)(l), (3), (4). 

<::.+ ~ ... _ __u;_ - £!.1\ IJ. (/,.(' 
Dated this3._[ day of , 017. 

Respectfully submitted, 

... _~-- :¥1 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent. 

v. 

DANIEL ROSS GILES, 

Appellant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) _____________________ ) 

DIVISION ONE 

No. 72726-5-1 

PUBLISHED OPINION 

FILED: November 28, 2016 

DWYER, J. -Danny Giles appeals from the judgment entered on a jury's 

verdict finding him guilty of murder in the first degree, committed while armed 

with a deadly weapon. He asserts that, by excluding evidence of three other 

suspects who purportedly committed the murder, the trial court deprived him of 

his right to present a defense. He also asserts that, by contravening a ruling in 

limine, a witness's testimony denied him his right to a fair trial, notwithstanding 

that the trial court struck the offending testimony from the record and issued a 

curative instruction, approved by his counsel, and notwithstanding that his 

counsel requested no other remedy. Finding no error, we affirm. 

Patti Berry, a nude dancer at a nightclub, went missing after leaving work 

sometime after 1:30 a.m. on July 31, 1995. Her car was found the next day, 

parked between two moving vans at a nearby car wash. There was a significant 
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amount of blood inside of the car. A search of the surrounding area uncovered a 

blood-stained pair of jeans and a handbag, both appearing to belong to Berry. 

The police processed her car, removing, for the purpose of forensic testing, its 

steering wheel, driver's seat headrest, and a piece of the front passenger seat's 

fabric containing a bloody handprint. 

Nine days after she went missing, Berry's body was found in a wooded 

area a few miles from the car wash. An autopsy of the body revealed that the 

cause of her death was blood loss from 16 to 18 stab wounds. A forensic 

pathologist's analysis concluded that the rate of decomposition of her body was 

consistent with death occurring on July 31. 

The police investigation identified several suspects, none of whom were 

Danny Giles. The police made no arrests. This remained so for many years. 

Periodically, over the next many years, investigators conducted in-depth 

deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) testing of the evidence seized. The testing 

identified a partial match between the DNA of Danny Giles and the DNA samples 

taken from Berry's jeans and handbag and her car's steering wheel and driver's 

seat headrest. 1 These matches indicated that Giles could not be excluded as a 

suspect and, thus, were consistent with a theory that Giles had murdered Berry. 

The DNA profile matches led the police to investigate Giles, uncovering 

additional evidence that he may have been the killer: he had visited the nightclub 

where Berry worked on previous occasions, he had poor opinions of sex workers, 

1 The testing excluded Giles as a contributor to both male DNA found on fingernail 
clippings taken during Berry's autopsy and male DNA found in the bloody handprint on the 
passenger seat of Berry's car. 
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he sometimes carried a knife, and he lived and worked in the area, frequenting a 

bar near the car wash where Berry's car was discovered and working for a 

landscaper near the wooded lot where Berry's body was found. 

During a police interview, Giles initially denied knowing Berry. However, 

after being confronted with the DNA profile partial matches, he said that it was 

possible that he had engaged in intercourse with her but could not explain why 

his DNA would be in Berry's car. In addition, in 2012, a witness, Todd Horton, 

came forth to claim that in the early morning in question he had seen a man who 

looked like Giles washing out a car's floor mats, backseat, and trunk, and that the 

substance being washed out looked murky, like blood. 

Giles was charged with murder in the first degree, committed while armed 

with a deadly weapon, arising from the death of Patti Berry. Based on a separate 

investigation, Giles was also charged with murder in the first degree arising from 

the death of Tracey Brazzel. Prior to trial, Giles moved to sever the murder 

charges for trial. The trial court granted Giles' motion. 

As part of his defense, Giles sought to present evidence that someone 

other than him had killed Berry.2 In so doing, Giles identified 11 other individuals 

and sought permission to present to the jury the "other suspect" evidence for 

each individual. The trial court held hearings over the course of five days 

regarding the admissibility of this evidence. At the first such hearing, evidence 

pertaining to five of the individuals identified by Giles was excluded by the trial 

court when Giles' counsel admitted that he did not have sufficient evidence to 

2 For ease of reference, we refer to such evidence as "other suspect" evidence. 
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warrant presenting any of those individuals to the jury as the true killer. 

Thereafter, the trial court permitted Giles to introduce evidence of one individual, 

Bryan Petitclerc, as the perpetrator and excluded evidence pertaining to the 

remaining five. 

At trial, on the 12th day of the State's case in chief, Giles' attorneys filed a 

motion in limine regarding the upcoming testimony of Kristopher Kern, the State's 

expert witness. The State indicated that Kern would testify that he had 

familiarized himself with the facts of the case and had reviewed the DNA 

analyses regarding Giles' DNA found inside Berry's car and on Berry's 

possessions. Based on his expertise and his familiarity with the facts, the State 

planned to have Kern testify regarding conclusions he had drawn as to the 

likelihood that Giles had been inside Berry's car and touched those of her 

possessions found nearby. Giles' motion requested that Kern be limited to 

testifying that the DNA evidence was "consistent with" the postulation that Giles 

touched Berry's car and her belongings, not that it was "likely" that Giles did so. 

The court granted the motion. stating, "I guess I'm a little bit bothered by the term 

likely. [Kern] could say his opinion, based on everything he reviewed, is this, but 

I don't think he can quantify it as likely, but you can ask him his opinion, based on 

what he's reviewed." 

During his testimony, however, Kern, in response to the prosecutor's 

questions, testified that the DNA evidence established that it was "likely" that 

Giles was in Berry's car and that it was "likely" that Giles touched some of her 

belongings. Before the jury, defense counsel objected to each statement, citing 
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a lack of foundation but not referencing the trial court's prior ruling. The trial 

court overruled each objection. 

Immediately after Kern's second answer, a recess was taken. At this time, 

defense counsel informed the court that her objections had been based on the 

trial court's previous ruling. The trial court left the bench to review its notes. 

Upon returning to the bench, the trial court ruled that Kern's testimony violated its 

prior ruling. Defense counsel requested that a curative instruction be given to the 

jury. Defense counsel deferred to the trial court to draft the curative instruction 

and approved of the curative instruction composed by the court. The trial court 

inquired as to whether any other matters remained for decision. Defense 

counsel requested nothing further from the court. 

The jury was brought into the courtroom. The trial court ordered the 

offending testimony stricken from the record. The curative instruction was then 

read to the jury. 

After a 15-day trial, the jury found Giles guilty of Berry's murder. 

II 

A 

Over the course of nearly a century and an intervening United States 

Supreme Court decision, Washington's "other suspect" evidence rule-applicable 

to proffered evidence that a specific person other than the defendant committed 

the charged crime-has developed from a broad common law rule to a specific 

and focused application of well established principles of materiality and probative 

value. 
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In State v. Downs. 168 Wash. 664, 13 P.2d 1 (1932), our Supreme Court 

acknowledged the common law rule. The issue in Downs was whether the trial 

court improperly excluded evidence that a specific person other than Downs or 

his codefendant committed the burglary at issue. The defendants sought to 

present evidence that "Madison Jimmy," a well known safe burglar, was in town 

on the night in question and planned to argue to the jury that he, not the 

defendants. stole from the safe. Downs, 168 Wash. at 666. Upon the State's 

objection, the trial court excluded the evidence. Downs. 168 Wash. at 666. 

Our Supreme Court found no error in the trial court's ruling. Noting that 

the defendants had failed to adduce evidence pointing to "Madison Jimmy" as the 

burglar, the court cited to the "general rule" of other jurisdictions, requiring that 

"[b]efore such testimony can be received, there must be such proof of connection 

with the crime, such a train of facts or circumstances as tend clearly to point out 

someone besides the accused as the guilty party." Downs. 168 Wash. at 667 

(citing State v. Caviness, 40 Idaho 500, 235 P. 890 (1925)). The court concluded 

that "[t]he fact that the so-called 'Madison Jimmy' was present in Seattle on the 

night of the burglary and may have had the opportunity to commit it, does not 

amount to even a justifiable suspicion that he did so." Downs, 168 Wash. at 667-

68. The proffered evidence, the court observed. "would not create a reasonable 

inference as to the innocence of appellants." Downs. 168 Wash. at 668. 

Nearly 70 years later, the United States Supreme Court examined whether 

a recent modification to South Carolina's common law "other suspect" evidence 

rule deprived a defendant of his right to present a defense. Holmes v. South 
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Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 327, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006).3 The 

modified South Carolina rule excluded more evidence than did the common law 

rule, permitting a trial court to exclude a defendant's "other suspect" evidence 

when there was sufficiently strong evidence of the defendant's guilt. 

Under this rule, the trial judge does not focus on the 
probative value or the potential adverse effects of admitting the 
defense evidence of third-party guilt. Instead, the critical inquiry 
concerns the strength of the prosecution's case: If the prosecution's 
case is strong enough, the evidence of third-party guilt is excluded 
even if that evidence, if viewed independently, would have great 
probative value and even if it would not pose an undue risk of 
harassment, prejudice, or confusion of the issues. 

Holmes, 547 U.S. at 329. 

The Supreme Court noted the manner in which the common law "other 

suspect" rule was consistent with constitutional mandates. 

While the Constitution thus prohibits the exclusion of 
defense evidence under rules that serve no legitimate purpose or 
that are disproportionate to the ends that they are asserted to 
promote, well-established rules of evidence permit trial judges to 
exclude evidence if its probative value is outweighed by certain 
other factors such as unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or 
potential to mislead the jury. See, e.g., Fed. Rule Evid. 403; 
Uniform Rule of Evid. 45 (1953); All, Model Code of Evidence Rule 
303 (1942); 3 J. Wigmore, Evidence§§ 1863, 1904 (1904). Plainly 
referring to rules of this type, we have stated that the Constitution 
permits judges "to exclude evidence that is 'repetitive ... , only 
marginally relevant' or poses an undue risk of 'harassment, 
prejudice, [or] confusion of the issues."' Crane[ v. Kentucky], 476 
U.S.[ 683,]689-B90[, 106 S. Ct. 2142, 90 L. Ed. 2d 636 (1986)] 
(quoting Delaware v. VanArsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679[, 106 S. Ct. 
1431, 89 L. Ed. 2d 674] (1986); ellipsis and brackets in original). 
See also Montana v. Egelhoff, 518 U.S. 37, 42[, 116 S. Ct. 2013, 
135 L. Ed. 2d 361] (1996) (plurality opinion) (terming such rules 
"familiar and unquestionably constitutional"). 

' South Carolina's prior "widely accepted" common law rule was the same rule discussed 
in Downs and followed in subsequent Washington cases. Holmes. 547 U.S. at 327 n.* (citing 
State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 856-58, 83 P.3d 970 (2004)); see Downs, 168 Wash. at 667. 
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A specific application of this principle is found in rules 
regulating the admission of evidence proffered by criminal 
defendants to show that someone else committed the crime with 
which they are charged. See, e.g., 41 C.J.S., Homicide§ 216, pp. 
56-58 (1991) ("Evidence tending to show the commission by 
another person of the crime charged may be introduced by accused 
when it is inconsistent with, and raises a reasonable doubt of, his 
own guilt; but frequently matters offered in evidence for this 
purpose are so remote and lack such connection with the crime that 
they are excluded"); 40A Am. Jur. 2d, Homicide § 286, pp. 136-138 
(1999) ("[T]he accused may introduce any legal evidence tending to 
prove that another person may have committed the crime with 
which the defendant is charged .... [Such evidence] may be 
excluded where it does not sufficiently connect the other person to 
the crime, as, for example, where the evidence is speculative or 
remote, or does not tend to prove or disprove a material fact in 
issue at the defendant's trial" (footnotes omitted)). 

Holmes, 547 U.S. at 326-27 (emphasis added). 

The Supreme Court held that the South Carolina rule was 

unconstitutionally arbitrary because it assumed that the prosecution's evidence 

should be credited rather than focusing on whether the proffered evidence, if 

credited, might tend to support a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt 

without being repetitive, harassing, or confusing. Thus, the Court ruled, the 

application at trial of the South Carolina rule violated Holmes' "right to have '"a 

meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense."'" Holmes, 547 U.S. at 

331 (quoting Crane, 476 U.S. at 690) (quoting California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 

479, 485, 104 S. Ct. 2528, 81 L. Ed. 2d 413 (1984)). 

Our Supreme Court recently explained that, since Downs and in light of 

Holmes, Washington has developed a more "restrained interpretation" of its 

"other suspect" evidence test. State v. Franklin, 180 Wn.2d 371, 381, 325 P.3d 

159 (2014). At issue therein was whether Washington's "other suspect" case law 

- 8-



No. 72726-5-119 

barred Franklin from presenting circumstantial evidence pointing to another 

suspect who had the requisite motive, ability, opportunity, and character to have 

been the perpetrator. Franklin, 180 Wn.2d at 379-81. The trial court had 

interpreted Downs and subsequent cases as requiring-in order to admit the 

proffered evidence-specific facts showing that the other suspect actually 

committed the crime. Franklin, 180 Wn.2d at 379-81. The trial court excluded 

the evidence. Franklin, 180 Wn.2d at 379. 

Our Supreme Court reversed the trial court's decision, explaining that it 

had "never adopted a per se rule against admitting circumstantial evidence of 

another person's motive, ability, or opportunity. Instead, our cases hold that if 

there is an adequate nexus between the alleged other suspect and the crime, 

such evidence should be admitted." Franklin, 180 Wn.2d at 373. 

As in Holmes, our Supreme Court explained that "other suspect" case law 

simply evidences specific applications of well established evidentiary principles. 

Referencing its "other suspect" jurisprudence as a limitation on collateral 

evidence, the Franklin court continued: 

In effect, this limitation on collateral evidence was similar to the 
requirement that evidence must have sufficient "probative value" to 
be relevant and admissible under ER 403. Evidence establishing 
nothing more than suspicion that another person might have 
committed the crime was inadmissible because its probative value 
was greatly outweighed by its burden on the judicial system. Other 
suspect evidence that establishes only such suspicion is 
inadmissible. 

In contrast, we held in State v. Maupin that eyewitness 
testimony that a kidnapping victim was seen after the kidnapping 
with a person other than the defendant was both relevant and 
sufficiently probative to pass the Downs test. 128 Wn.2d 918, 928, 
913 P.2d 808 (1996). Such evidence links the other suspect to the 
specific crime charged, either as the true perpetrator or as an 
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accomplice or associate of the defendant. Evidence of this sort 
differs from evidence of motive, ability, opportunity, or character in 
that the proffered evidence alone is sufficient under the 
circumstances to establish the necessary connection. However, 
neither Maupin nor the earlier cases stand for the proposition that 
motive, ability, opportunity, and/or character evidence together can 
never establish such a connection. The Downs test in essence has 
not changed: some combination of facts or circumstances must 
point to a nonspeculative link between the other suspect and the 
charged crime. 

The trial court was thus incorrect to suggest that direct 
evidence rather than circumstantial evidence is required under our 
cases. The standard for relevance of other suspect evidence is 
whether there is evidence '"tending to connect'" someone other 
than the defendant with the crime. Downs, 168 Wash. at 667 
(quoting 16 C.J. Criminal Law§ 1085, at 560 (1918)), quoted in 
Maupin, 128 Wn.2d at 925. Further, other jurisdictions have 
pointed out that this inquiry, properly conducted, "focuse[s) upon 
whether the evidence offered tends to create a reasonable doubt as 
to the defendant's guilt, not whether it establishes the guilt of the 
third parly beyond a reasonable doubt." Smithart v. State, 988 P.2d 
583, 588 & n.21 (Alaska 1999). 

180 Wn.2d at 380-81. 

Thus, the threshold analysis for "other suspect" evidence involves a 

straightforward, but focused, relevance inquiry, reviewing the evidence's 

materiality and probative value for "whether the evidence has a logical 

connection to the crime." Franklin,·180 Wn.2d at 381-82 (citing Holmes, 547 

U.S. at 330). 

B 

Trial court decisions on the admission of evidence are reviewed for abuse 

of discretion. State v. Perez-Valdez, 172 Wn.2d 808, 814, 265 P.3d 853 (2011). 

"Such abuse occurs when, considering the purposes of the trial court's discretion, 

it is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons." State v. Clark, 78 

Wn. App. 471,477,898 P.2d 854 (1995). 
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The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and article I, 

section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee a criminal defendant a 

meaningful opportunity to present a defense4 State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 

720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). This right, however, is not absolute. It may, "in 

appropriate cases, bow to accommodate other legitimate interests in the criminal 

trial process," Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 295, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. 

Ed. 2d 297 (1973), including the exclusion of evidence considered irrelevant or 

otherwise inadmissible. State v. Strizheus, 163 Wn. App. 820, 830, 262 P.3d 

100 (2011 ); accord Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720 ("Defendants have a right to 

present only relevant evidence, with no constitutional right to present irrelevant 

evidence."); State v. Aquirre, 168 Wn.2d 350, 363, 229 P.3d 669 (2010) ("[T]he 

scope of that right does not extend to the introduction of otherwise inadmissible 

evidence."). 

As with all evidence, the proponent bears the burden of establishing the 

admissibility of "other suspect" evidence. State v. Starbuck, 189 Wn. App. 740, 

752,355 P.3d 1167 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1008 (2016). Because 

the premise underlying the introduction of "other suspect" evidence is to show 

that someone other than the defendant committed the charged crime, the 

standard for admission is whether the proffered evidence tends to indicate a 

reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt. Franklin, 180 Wn.2d at 381. 

4 '"The Constitution guarantees a fair trial through the Due Process Clauses, but it 
defines the basic elements of a fair trial largely through the several provisions of the Sixth 
Amendment."' Crane, 476 U.S. at 690 (quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 684-85, 
104 S. Ct. 2052. 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)}. 
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Evidence is relevant when it is both material-the fact to be proved '"is of 

consequence in the context of the other facts and the applicable substantive 

law'"-and probative-the evidence has a "tendency to prove or disprove a fact." 

State v. Sargent, 40 Wn. App. 340, 348 n.3, 698 P.2d 598 (1985) (quoting 5 K. 

TEGLAND, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: EVIDENCE§ 82, at 168 (2d ed.1982)). 

c 

On appeal, Giles asserts that the trial court abused its discretion in 

excluding evidence pointing to Frank Colacurcio Jr., Michael Beatie, and James 

Leslie as the actual slayer of Patti Berry. We discuss the trial court's rulings as to 

each of these "other suspects" in turns 

1 

Giles first asserts that the evidence he sought to introduce regarding 

Frank Colacurcio Jr. tended to establish that Colacurcio was the murderer and 

thus the trial court abused its discretion by ruling the evidence inadmissible. We 

disagree. 

In his pretrial motion, Giles set forth the evidence that he would present, if 

allowed, that supported identifying Colacurcio as the true killer: (1) Colacurcio 

was a co-owner of the nightclub at which Berry worked, (2) Berry once said that 

5 Giles, in his appellate briefing, omitted that the trial court allowed him to introduce 
evidence pointing to Bryan Petitclerc as the actual killer. Before trial, Giles offered the following 
proof in support of introducing evidence of Petitclerc as the true killer: (1) In 1999, contrary to his 
testimony in 2012, witness Horton had identified Petitclerc in a photomontage with "99 percent 
confidence" as the individual he saw at the car wash on the night in question, (2) the composite 
drawing from 1999 that was generated with Horton's input resembled Petitclerc, and (3) Petitclerc 
lived in the area during the time in question. 

The trial court permitted Giles to introduce evidence pointing to Petitclerc as the true 
killer. Giles' counsel availed themselves of this opportunity. The evidence did not, apparently, 
have its desired effect on the jurors. 

- 12 -



No. 72726-5-1/13 

Colacurcio was a "mafia type," (3) Berry owed Colacurcio several thousand 

dollars for a loan that financed her breast augmentation surgery and for unpaid 

rental fees (amounts charged to women for the right to dance at his clubs), (4) 

Berry was a sex worker who had been blackmailing her customers, including one 

of Colacurcio's "associates," (5) Berry's mother claimed that Berry had once 

slapped Colacurcio after he touched her rear end, (6) Colacurcio had sent Berry 

to work at a strip club in Texas earlier that month and, while in Texas, Berry 

stated that she was afraid of going back to Washington, (7) a black car of the 

same color and model as a car owned by Colacurcio was seen driving away from 

the nightclub around the same time that Berry was last seen and in the same 

direction as Berry had been seen driving, (8) the nightclub's surveillance tapes 

requested by the police were not turned over to the police in a timely fashion, and 

(9) the nightclub's surveillance tape recorded on the night that Berry 

disappeared-unlike the videotapes for different nights-was blank. 

The trial court excluded the proposed evidence regarding Colacurcio, 

inviting defense counsel to seek to obtain additional evidence concerning 

Colacurcio's car and its possible connection to the crime. 

Giles later filed a supplemental motion offering proof that Colacurcio had 

been present at the nightclub on the night in question. 

Nevertheless, the trial court adhered to its ruling, excluding evidence 

pointing to Colacurcio as the murderer. The trial court reasoned that Berry's 

financial debt to Colacurcio weighed against him having a motive to kill her, 

stating, "I mean, if she owes him money, he's probably going to want his money 
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back." The trial court further reasoned that the evidence of blackmail was 

insufficient because it did not tend to show that Berry was blackmailing 

Colacurcio himself. Furthermore, the trial court explained that, with regard to 

Berry's reluctance to return to Washington, no proof was offered that Berry had a 

specific fear of Colacurcio. 

The trial court's analysis was tenable. While the evidence tied Colacurcio 

to Berry, it did not tie him to her killing. Thus, the trial court properly ruled that 

the proposed testimony seeking to identify Colacurcio as the true killer was not of 

a type that would cause to exist a reasonable doubt as to Giles' guilt. Hence, the 

trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Giles' request to identify 

Colacurcio to the jury as Berry's true killer. 6 

6 Giles also sought to introduce evidence that Colacurcio had threatened to kill Berry and 
that Colacurcio was behind her murder. Giles derived this information from an investigating 
officer who was told of it by another police officer, who, in turn, received the information from an 
anonymous tip. The State argued that the evidence was hearsay and lacked a basis for 
establishing personal knowledge thereof. The trial judge did not specifically address this 
evidence in its ruling when it excluded all of Giles' proffered evidence pointing to Colacurcio as 
the actual killer. 

When the motion before the trial court is one to exclude evidence, an offer of proof by the 
proponent is required by rule. 

Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which ... excludes evidence unless a 
substantial right of the party is affected, and 

(2) Offer of Proof. In case the ruling is one excluding evidence, the 
substance of the evidence was made known to the court by offer or was apparent 
from the context within which questions were asked. 

ER 103(a). 
Such an offer serves three purposes. 
[l]t informs the court of the legal theory under which the offered evidence is 
admissible; it infonns the judge of the specific nature of the offered evidence so 
that the court can assess its admissibility; and it creates a record adequate for 
review. 

State v. Ray, 116 Wn.2d 531, 538, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991). An offer of proof is unnecessary only 
when "the substance of the excluded evidence is apparent from the record." Ray, 116 Wn.2d at 
539. 

When we review a trial court decision to exclude evidence, we evaluate the court's 
analysis of the proof offered in light of general evidentiary admissibility principles. Thus, we 
ordinarily assume that the trial court is making its admissibility evaluation in response to only the 
ground stated, ER 103(a), that matters discussed by counsel are within the contemplation of the 
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2 

Giles next asserts that his proffer of circumstantial evidence concerning 

Deputy Sheriff Michael Beatie-his frequent association with the crime scenes 

and his bad character-was sufficient to connect Beatie to the murder and, as a 

result, the trial court erred in excluding the evidence. We disagree. 

In his pretrial motion in support of the introduction of "other suspect" 

evidence, Giles made the following offer of proof concerning his request to 

identify Beatie to the jury as the true killer: (1) Beatie worked and lived in the 

area, (2) Beatie was under investigation for "abuse of power and taking 

advantage of women" and the letter terminating his employment with the Sheriff's 

Office indicated that he had maintained a pattern of abusing his power for his 

social and sexual needs, (3) Beatie was not on duty the night of Berry's 

disappearance, (4) Beatie was the first officer on the scene when Berry's car was 

found, (5) two officers noted in their reports that Beatie made suspicious 

comments about the murder investigation, (6) the day after Berry's vehicle was 

found, Beatie told Berry's sister that, while looking for Berry's body, he had 

judge, State v. Johnson, 48 Wn. App. 531, 537, 740 P.2d 337 (1987), that the judge "considered 
all pertinent arguments made by counsel," Johnson, 48 Wn. App at 538, and that the judge ruled 
in relation to the circumstances of the case as it then existed. Johnson, 48 Wn. App at 537. 
However, we also remain aware that a trial judge may deem excluded inadmissible evidence 
even in the absence of an objection, In re Estate of Hayes, 185 Wn. App. 567, 591-92, 342 P.3d 
1161 (2015), and that, generally, a ruling properly excluding evidence will be upheld if the record 
reveals a sound basis for that result, even if the court did not articulate that basis (or any basis) 
for its ruling. See State v. Markle, 118 Wn.2d 424, 438, 823 P.2d 1101 (1992); State v. Jones, 71 
Wn. App. 798, 824, 863 P.2d 85 (1993); State v. Rivas, 49 Wn. App. 677, 688, 746 P.2d 312 
(1987). 

Here, the challenged evidence was hearsay upon hearsay with no showing of any 
personal knowledge of any identifiable person. As such, it was plainly inadmissible for reasons 
apart from the "other suspect' analysis. Accordingly, the trial judge properly gave this proffered 
evidence no credit in evaluating the merits of Giles' "other suspect" request. 
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received scratches from falling down an embankment into some blackberry 

bushes, (7) when Berry's body was found, Beatie went to the body recovery site, 

(8) Berry's body was found in blackberry bushes, and (9) Beatie called Berry's 

mother to offer condolences. 

At the hearing, the trial court expressed interest in the scratches that 

Beatie had received and offered that, if Giles could establish that Beatie had not 

been officially responsible for searching for Berry's body, Giles could introduce 

evidence that Beatie was a suspect in the murder. 

Three weeks later, still prior to trial, Giles offered additional evidence 

pointing to Beatie as the true killer: (1) Beatie's knowledge and experience as a 

sheriffs deputy would enable him to commit and cover-up a murder, (2) at the 

car recovery site, Beatie placed one foot on the fender of the Berry's car, pressed 

his foot down on the fender to gauge the response of the car's suspension, and 

remarked that Berry was not in the trunk, (3) no embankment existed at the site 

where Beatie claimed he had fallen while searching for Berry's body, (4) a police 

report indicated that another officer, not Beatie, was searching for Berry's body in 

blackberry bushes, (5) Beatie commented that Berry's body would be found in 

the woods, and Berry's body was later found in a wooded lot, (6) Berry's sister 

and mother both said that Beatie told them that he knew Berry, (7) Berry may 

have been blackmailing Beatie because Beatie was purportedly the type of 

person who would be susceptible to blackmail attempts, and (8) Beatie was 

viewed as a viable suspect long into the State's investigation because, in 2007, 

the State compared Beatie's DNA with the steering wheel DNA sample. 
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At a hearing a week later, Giles asserted that this additional evidence 

justified the introduction of evidence pointing to Beatie as the actual killer 

because it contradicted Beatie's statements about the circumstances under 

which he was scratched by blackberry bushes. In response, the State pointed to 

a report indicating that Beatie was responsible for searching for the body at the 

time in question. After asking if Giles' counsel had gathered any other evidence, 

the court stated, 

So I'm going to stick with my ruling in my previous ruling. I'm not 
going to find that Mr. Beatie can be named as an other suspect 
That specifically indicates in the report that he was responsible for 
searching for the body. There is reference in the report to him 
checking the area, and it did reference there were blackberry 
bushes. Frankly, the fact that he didn't know he was scratched by 
them is insignificant to me, in relation to that particular issue. So 
I'm not going to permit him to be called as an other suspect 

As recognized by the trial court, the evidence sought to be introduced 

concerning Beatie lacked relevance. Although the circumstantial evidence 

proffered might have tended to create a certain suspicion that Beatie may have 

been the true killer, other facts in the record undercut this connection. See State 

v. Wade, 186 Wn. App. 749, 767-68, 346 P.3d 838, review denied, 184 Wn.2d 

1004 (2015) (video surveillance recording undercut "other suspect" evidence's 

relevance). As noted by the trial court, because Beatie was a sheriffs deputy 

who was responsible for investigating the murder, the proffered evidence 

showing his interest in the criminal investigation failed to logically connect Beatie 

to the crime in a nefarious way. Similarly, because the remaining proffered 

evidence seeking to identify Beatie as the true killer required the pyramiding of 

speculation upon inferences in order to connect him to Berry's murder, the 
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evidence lacked probative value, failing to have a tendency to establish that he 

murdered Berry. The evidence thus did not have a tendency to support a 

reasonable doubt as to whether Giles committed the crime. Accordingly, the trial 

court did not abuse its discretion by excluding the evidence_? 

3 

Giles' next contention is that the trial court should have admitted "other 

suspect" evidence pointing to James Leslie as the true killer and that it abused its 

discretion by not so ruling. We disagree. 

In his initial "other suspect" motion, Giles made the following offer of proof 

in support of introducing evidence pointing to Leslie as Berry's murderer: (1) 

Leslie lived near the nightclub and was at the nightclub the night that Berry 

disappeared, (2) Leslie sat with a known drug dealer during Berry's last shift, (3) 

7 In his appellate briefing, Giles also cites to certain "other suspect" evidence regarding 
Beatie, without indicating that this proffered evidence was not before the trial court until Giles 
moved for a new trial following the jury's verdict-long after the trial court's "other suspect" 
rulings. We review the trial court's evidentiary decisions based on the evidence before the court 
at the time of its ruling. 

Giles' appellate briefing does not mention the motion for a new trial and the evidence 
tendered in support thereof. As a corollary of this failure, Giles does not present a separate 
argument regarding the grounds for a new trial request, address the applicable standard of 
review, or cite to any authority demonstrating that he was entitled to a new trial. 

Even so, were we to entertain an assertion that the trial court erred by denying Giles' 
motion, we would conclude that such an assertion has no merit. Giles' motion for a new trial was 
premised on information gleaned from Beatie's testimony during a pretrial hearing, testimony 
which, Giles claimed, was not supported by other witnesses' subsequent testimony at trial. Giles 
indicated that, during the pretrial hearing, Beatie, for the first time, testified that he approached 
Berry's body on the night that her body was found and identified her by a tattoo on her hip that he 
knew she possessed from a prior conversation with Berry's mother. Giles' motion contrasted this 
testimony with that of the police officers who testified at trial. The police officers testified to the 
sanctity of the body site, that only detectives trained in crime scene investigation (which Beatie 
was not) were allowed near the body, and that those detectives who investigated Berry's body did 
not approach her body until the morning after her body was found and that they could not identify 
the tattoo until they were directly above her body. 

Nonetheless, because Beatie was responsible for investigating Berry's murder, the 
motion's supporting circumstantial evidence fails to connect Beatie to the murder, thus rendering 
the evidence inadmissible. Accordingly, the trial court was unquestionably correct in denying the 
request for a new trial. 
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Berry danced for Leslie several times that night, (4) an individual who looked like 

Leslie was seen carrying a duffel bag near the car recovery site before Berry's 

car was recovered, (5) Leslie provided conflicting statements to the police after 

the murder, and (6) Leslie burned his diary when the police asked him to turn it 

over to them. 

At the hearing, the trial court denied Giles' request, questioning how Leslie 

sitting with a drug dealer and hiring Berry to dance for him tended to prove that 

Leslie killed Berry, explaining that "there's nothing here that's admissible that lays 

a sufficient nexus." 

As the trial court indicated, the evidence relating Leslie to Berry is merely 

that Leslie was a patron of the nightclub. The remaining evidence lacks 

probative value because, without more, it fails to have a tendency to establish 

that Leslie murdered Berry. Thus, it was not evidence of a type that would give 

rise to a reason to doubt Giles' guilt of the charged crime. The trial court did not 

abuse its discretion by excluding the evidence seeking to blame Leslie for the 

murder. 

As to all three of the trial court's determinations, its reasoning was sound. 

There was no error. 

Ill 

Giles next contends, for the first time on appeal, that witness Kern's 

testimony in violation of the ruling in limine deprived him of his right to a fair trial. 

This argument is advanced notwithstanding that the trial court struck the 

offending testimony and issued a curative instruction that was approved by Giles' 
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counsel and notwithstanding that Giles' counsel requested no other remedy. 

Because Giles received all of the relief that was requested by his attorney at trial, 

his present claim is without merit. 

Witness Kern twice testified to his opinion that it was "likely" that Giles had 

been in Berry's car at or around the time of her murder. This testimony violated a 

prior ruling limiting Kern's testimony to an opinion that the DNA evidence was 

"consistent with" this conclusion-as opposed to it being "likely." Giles' 

objections to this evidence were ultimately sustained. Kern's offending testimony 

was stricken from the record in the presence of the jury. And the jury was given 

a curative instruction that had been approved of by Giles' attorney. No other 

remedy was sought by Giles' counsel. 

On appeal, Giles contends that-notwithstanding the remedies imposed 

by the trial judge-a new trial must be awarded. This is another way of saying 

that the trial judge erred by not declaring a mistrial-even though Giles never 

requested a mistrial. Giles is wrong. 

The testimony at issue was as follows: 

[Prosecutor]: Based upon the blood evidence in the vehicle 
and the evidence from the body-recovery site, is this scene 
consistent with Patti being driven to where she was ultimately 
found, in her own car? 

[Kern]: I think that's a strong possibility. 
[Prosecutor]: You also reviewed the various DNA reports? 
[Kern]: Yes. 
[Prosecutor]: You reviewed the report by Jean Johnston? 
[Kern]: Yes. 
[Prosecutor]: And you reviewed the report by William 

Stubbs? 
[Kern]: Yes. 
[Prosecutor]: Based on that, is it likely that the defendant, 

Danny Giles, was inside of that car, touching the steering wheel? 
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yes. 

[Kern]: At some point--
[Defense Counsel]: Objection. Foundation. 
[Court]: Overruled. 
[Kern]: At some point prior to the vehicle being recovered, 

[Prosecutor]: You also reviewed the DNA reports from 
Orchid Cellmark, from Aimee Rogers and Barbara Leal? 

[Kern]: Yes. 
[Prosecutor]: After review of those reports, do you have an 

opinion whether it was likely that Mr. Giles touched those items,[8J 

prior to their recovery? 
[Defense Counsel]: Objection. Foundation. This expert is 

not qualified to testify as to what Aimee Rogers and Barbara Leal 
testified to. They can testify to what their reports indicate, not this 
witness. 

[Court]: Overruled. 
[Kern]: Yes, prior to them being discovered. 

(Emphasis added.) 

Immediately after this testimony, the court recessed. During the recess, 

Giles' counsel for the first time alerted the judge that her objections were based 

on a violation of the court's prior ruling. 

[Defense Counsel]: ... When we had our motions in limine 
argument regarding Mr. Kern's testimony, you granted defense 
motion No. 9-E, which specifically was prohibiting Mr. Kern to testify 
that Danny Giles was likely inside the Honda Prelude, prior to its 
recovery. You said that, in fact, if you wanted to ask is it consistent 
with that, that would be okay, but he is not to testify that it's likely. 
And that's exactly what happened, and that's why I objected, and 
you overruled me. 

Now oriented to the actual basis of the defendant's objection, the trial judge 

promptly left the bench to review his notes in chambers. 

After returning to the bench, the trial judge ruled that Kern's "likelihood" 

testimony violated the court's prior ruling: 

8 The items that Kern referenced were Berry's belongings found near the car recovery 
site, including her handbag and jeans. 
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[Court]: ... I did review the motions in limine, it's been some 
time since I went through them. Specifically, the motion in limine 
did ask that this witness be precluded from stating that it was likely 
that Danny Giles was inside the Honda Prelude, prior to its 
recovery, and likely that he had contact with some of Ms. Berry's 
belongings, prior to recovery. That was the motion in limine. 

I don't find that the violation was intentional by the State. It 
is a violation, though, of the motions in limine. 

What I indicated previously was that the question that could 
be asked was based upon the review and his analysis of the case, 
if it was consistent, and that was the difference. I said that the 
question could be phrased in relation to whether it was consistent, 
not whether it was likely. 

At this point it would be my position that I would advise the 
jurors that they would disregard the opinions that were provided, in 
relation to whether or not it was likely the defendant either was 
inside of the car and touched the steering wheel or if it was likely 
that he touched items, prior to recovery. I don't believe that the 
difference in the questions is such that any other additional relief is 
necessary or appropriate. 

If the State wants to reopen after I advise the jurors they 
need to disregard that, to ask the questions consistent with what 
my ruling was, I'll permit them to do so. 

[Prosecutor]: I guess that would be my request then. 
[Court]: Ms. Coburn, anything else? 
[Defense Counsel]: No. 
[Court]: Any other issues we need to address, before we 

bring back the jurors? 
I guess I would like to go over, with the parties, exactly how 

you want me to advise the jurors, in relation to they have to 
disregard that testimony, and I'm looking more from the standpoint 
of the defense suggestion because I understand that part of the 
issue might be a concern then that we're highlighting it. 

I would indicate, though, that these jurors have been 
excellent, in relation to following the instructions of the Court 
throughout this proceeding, and I don't anticipate any issues, and 
they will completely disregard it, as they are required to. 

[Defense Counsel]: I don't know if I'm being very articulate, 
but perhaps you could just read out what you plan to instruct, Your 
Honor. 

[Court]: Let me configure it first, and then I'll read it. 
(Pause.) 

Okay. Here's what I propose. The jurors are instructed to 
disregard the testimony from Mr. Kern that it is likely Mr. Giles was 
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inside the car, touching the steering wheel. The jurors are also 
instructed to disregard the testimony of Mr. Kern based on review 
of the reports of Barbara Leal and Aimee Rogers, related to his 
opinion that it was likely Mr. Giles touched the belongings of Patti 
Berry, prior to their recovery. 

[Defense Counsel): That's fine. 
[Court]: Okay. The State? 
[Prosecutor): That's fine. And just so we're clear, my intent 

then is to ask a question to Mr. Kern, essentially, that based on a 
review of various reports, is it consistent with the defendant being 
inside the vehicle? Yes. Consistent with him touching the various 
belongings prior to recovery? Yes. 

[Court]: Yes. That's what I indicated. 
[Prosecutor]: Okay. 
[Court): Any other issues, before we bring out the jurors? 

Let's get the jury. 

The court then struck the offending testimony from the record and 

instructed the jury as proposed. The prosecutor subsequently questioned Kern 

consistent with the trial court's ruling. 

Giles now argues that Kern's testimony using the "likely" language violated 

his right to a fair trial and requires a new trial, notwithstanding the remedies 

imposed by the trial court and notwithstanding that Giles did not request a 

mistrial. 

He is wrong. Giles received the remedies he requested. The law 

presumes that these remedies are effective. State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 28, 

195 P.3d 940 (2008) (curative instruction); State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661-

64, 790 P.2d 610 (1990) (objection sustained, evidence stricken, curative 

instruction given). Giles does not demonstrate that any trial court error occurred. 

Giles' argument is-at its core-that the trial court erred by not declaring a 

mistrial, even though Giles did not request a mistrial. This argument ignores that 
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jeopardy had attached and that Giles had a right to proceed to verdict with the 

jurors then empaneled. 

Had the trial judge declared a mistrial without Giles' assent, the double 

jeopardy bar might well have prevented his retrial. Giles does not address this 

concern in his briefing. 

It is for this and other reasons that a mistrial should be granted only when 

nothing that the trial court could have said or done would have remedied the 

harm done by the trial misconduct. State v. Gilcrist, 91 Wn.2d 603, 612, 590 

P.2d 809 ( 1979). This was not such a case. Indeed, the trial judge imposed 

appropriate remedial measures. 

It is a principle of longstanding that a trial attorney who does not request a 

remedy forfeits the claim that the trial judge should have imposed that remedy. 

"'Counsel may not remain silent, speculating upon a favorable verdict, and then, 

when it is adverse, use the claimed misconduct as a life preserver on a motion 

for a new trial or on appeal."' State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 93, 882 P.2d 747 

(1994) (quoting Jones v. Hogan, 56 Wn.2d 23, 27, 351 P.2d 153 (1960)). 

To accede to Giles' appellate request would be to put trial judges in 

untenable positions. We will not take such action.9 

9 Giles submitted a pro se statement of additional grounds in which he advanced several 
arguments. None call for appellate relief. Giles first contends that the prosecutor improperly 
vouched for a witness and conducted an improper closing argument. Applicable authority is to 
the contrary. State v. Coleman, 155 Wn. App. 951, 957,231 P.3d 212 (2010); State v. Anderson, 
153 Wn. App. 417,430-31,220 P.3d 1273 (2009). 

Giles also essentially repeats his attorneys' "other suspect" contentions. These 
assertions were raised and well argued by counsel. No further discussion is warranted. State v. 
Meneses, 149 Wn. App. 707, 715-16, 205 P.3d 916 (2009), affd, 169 Wn.2d 586, 238 P.3d 495 
(2010). 

Giles next contends that his attorneys' decision not to employ a witness identification 
expert constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. Because this decision constituted legitimate 
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Affirmed. 

We concur: 

{I 

trial strategy, he fails to establish the first part of the test for ineffective assistance of counsel­
that his attorneys' representation was deficient. State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 
P.3d 80 (2004). 

Lastly, Giles asserts that the number of errors in the case warrant reversal pursuant to 
the cumulative error doctrine. Because Giles has not shown error, the cumulative error doctrine 
does not apply. 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

v. 

DANIEL ROSS GILES, 

Appellant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

DIVISION ONE 

No. 72726-5-1 

____________________ ) 

ORDER DENYING 
APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR 
RECONSIDERATION AND 
OBJECTION TO STATE'S 
COST BILL 

The appellant, Daniel Giles, having filed a motion for reconsideration and 

objection to the State's cost bill, and a majority of the panel having determined 

that the motion and objection to the cost bill should be denied; now, therefore, it 

is hereby 

ORDERED that the motion for reconsideration and the objection to the 

State's cost bill are hereby denied. 

DATED this !!) ~day of January, 2017. 

For the Court: 

,_, 
C' _, 
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